

Public Health Association of Australia submission on the ACT Draft Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025

Contact for recipient:

ACT Preventive and Population Health Policy

E: acthealthphp@act.gov.au

Contact for PHAA:

Terry Slevin – Chief Executive Officer A: 20 Napier Close, Deakin ACT 2600 E: phaa@phaa.net.au T: (02) 6285 2373 26 July 2023

Contents

Preamble	3
The Public Health Association of Australia	3
Vision for a healthy population	3
Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia	3
Introduction	4
PHAA Response to the consultation draft on the ACT Draft Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025	4
Supporting families and children	4
Enable active living	5
Increasing healthy eating	5
Reducing risky behaviours	6
Promoting healthy ageing	7
Conclusion	8
References	9

Preamble

The Public Health Association of Australia

The Public Health Association of Australia (PHAA) is recognised as the principal non-government organisation for public health in Australia working to promote the health and well-being of all Australians. It is the pre-eminent voice for the public's health in Australia.

The PHAA works to ensure that the public's health is improved through sustained and determined efforts of the Board, the National Office, the State and Territory Branches, the Special Interest Groups and members.

The efforts of the PHAA are enhanced by our vision for a healthy Australia and by engaging with like-minded stakeholders in order to build coalitions of interest that influence public opinion, the media, political parties and governments.

Health is a human right, a vital resource for everyday life, and key factor in sustainability. Health equity and inequity do not exist in isolation from the conditions that underpin people's health. The health status of all people is impacted by the social, cultural, political, environmental and economic determinants of health. Specific focus on these determinants is necessary to reduce the unfair and unjust effects of conditions of living that cause poor health and disease. These determinants underpin the strategic direction of the Association.

All members of the Association are committed to better health outcomes based on these principles.

Vision for a healthy population

A healthy region, a healthy nation, healthy people: living in an equitable society underpinned by a well-functioning ecosystem and a healthy environment, improving and promoting health for all.

The reduction of social and health inequities should be an over-arching goal of national policy and recognised as a key measure of our progress as a society. All public health activities and related government policy should be directed towards reducing social and health inequity nationally and, where possible, internationally.

Mission for the Public Health Association of Australia

As the leading national peak body for public health representation and advocacy, to drive better health outcomes through increased knowledge, better access and equity, evidence informed policy and effective population-based practice in public health.



Introduction

PHAA welcomes the opportunity to provide input to the ACT Government's consultation draft on the ACT Draft Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025. We support the overall direction and intent of the discussion paper and would like to submit feedback aimed to strengthen the final version.

Effective health promotion and illness prevention interventions have been shown to improve health outcomes in both the short and long term.¹ Additionally, investment in health promotion and illness prevention interventions is highly cost-saving,² cost effective and beneficial to the economy.³

Health and wellbeing can be impacted by factors including inequity, socio-economic, cultural, commercial, political, ecological, working and environmental conditions. ^{4,5} Early childhood development, social and community networks, psychosocial factors, access to quality health care programs and services and biomedical factors also impact on the health of individuals and populations. ⁵ Therefore, truly effective prevention policy should be holistic and should aim to address inequities.

To address these "upstream" factors and their subsequent "downstream" outcomes, creating, funding and implementing a Preventive Health Action Plan is a strong start. PHAA encourages the ACT Action Plan to be guided by the recommendations presented in the National Preventative Health Strategy. In particular, the ACT should commit a minimum 5% of all health spending to primary and secondary prevention.

PHAA Response to the ACT Draft Action Plan

Supporting families and children

Objective: "Families are supported to optimise the healthy development of their children in the first 1000 days"

Action: "Deliver earlier and better supports for children and families during the first 1000 day period and increase awareness about the importance of the first 1000 days for child development"

PHAA is encouraged to see emphasis on supporting children and families in the early years of a child's development. The supports required for effective early years are multifaceted. Therefore, a holistic approach should be used to ensure the various needs of a child's development are met, both through direct involvement of the child and through supporting children's families. We would strongly suggest the final Action Plan to use measurable goals for this and the other sections, to ensure progress is tracked.

PHAA recommends that the Act government create programmes in the following:

- Adequate nutrition:
 - Without access to healthy foods, children suffer long-term impacts on their physical, cognitive, and emotional development, limiting ability to flourish in education and reach their full potential.^{6,7}
- Clothing, personal care and hygiene:
 - Nappies, soap, and oral care products are necessary for hygiene, health and social reasons,^{6,7} as well as situation-appropriate clothing, which can be protective against environmental conditions (e.g., sun safety) and enable children to engage in essential activities (e.g., school).^{6,8}
- Living environments:
 - Secure, stable, and quality housing free from overcrowding, extreme temperatures and with access to basic amenities is imperative to protect children from disease and build a stable support network.⁶

Safety:

- The greatest risks faced by children are at home in the form of abuse or neglect by parents and carers, with children in out-of-home care particularly vulnerable. Adverse experiences in early childhood increases the probability of poor health and wellbeing later in life. In

Water safety:

- Swimming lessons are essential in Australia, the country with the world's largest number of pools per capita. ¹¹ Children under five are most at risk of drowning, with an average of 23 deaths and 183 hospitalisations annually across Australia. ¹²

Enable active living

Objective: "More adults and children using active modes of transport"

Action: "Promote active travel through safer walking and cycling infrastructure, a better connected and maintained network, making active travel and bicycle parking easy and working with communities to support behaviour change"

The health benefits of regular physical activity are immense: from weight, blood pressure, and blood lipid profile control; to promoting mental well-being and better cognition; to improving strength, fitness, coordination, and movement skills; and to enhancing functional capacity and independence. 13-15

Adults aged between 18-64 should accumulate 150-300 minutes of moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity per week. ¹⁶ This goal can become more achievable for people by investing in active transport. Making active transport an easy, convenient and pleasant option enables people to make physical activity part of their everyday routine. ¹⁷⁻¹⁹ Investing in active transport is investing in the health of Canberrans, promoting individual and community health and wellbeing, and reducing the burden caused by physical inactivity to the health system.

PHAA recommends the following actions:

- Quality and safe infrastructure for using public transport, walking and cycling, workplace facilities for bike storage and showering, and shaded cycle parking.
- Encourage bike share schemes and normalisation of cycling and walking as ways of transport.
- Improve availability of urban green space.
- Ticketing to enable people to make multiple trips, in multiple directions on different transport modes, with ease. For more recommendations see <u>Low Emissions and Active Transport</u>.

Increasing healthy eating

Objective: "Lower intakes of energy-dense, nutrient poor (discretionary) foods and drinks - Increased consumption of vegetables"

Action: "Implement evidence-based strategies to support healthier food and drink environments in the wider community" and "Implement evidence-based strategies that support a whole-school approach to creating and maintaining healthy food and drink environments in and around schools."

Action: "Improve the availability and promotion of free drinking water in public places, sports facilities and food outlets."

Action: "Continue to implement and monitor ACT healthy food and drink marketing policies on public buses and light rail; and explore opportunities to limit unhealthy food and drink marketing and sponsorship in ACT Government facilities and community settings including junior sports"

Action: "Undertake collaborative research to establish the prevalence and profile of households at risk of food insecurity in the ACT"

Australia is experiencing an overweight and obesity epidemic, with two-thirds of all adults and one-quarter of children being considered obese or overweight.²⁰⁻²² So far, interventions to address this issue have not proved effective, as reflected in data that shows an increase in overweight and obesity since 2007.²¹ Transitioning Australians onto healthier and more sustainable diets will take a multifaceted approach.

PHAA recommends the following actions:

- ACT Government must follow best evidence when defining "healthier food and drink". In other states, an artificially sweetened drink is "healthier" than a full sugar drink. Neither are healthy.
- ACT Government to support National policy to reduce obesity, including a <u>health levy on sugary</u> drinks, mandatory health star rating, added sugar labelling, labelling of baby and toddler foods.
- Ensure the availability of water fountains extends into low socioeconomic areas.
- Stronger wording for the action outcome than "Children are less exposed" to junk food marketing when participating in sports.
- ACT Government to ensure fields/courts and playgrounds are free from unhealthy advertising.
- Stronger wording for the action outcome than "ACT Government policies and contracts limit
 exposure to unhealthy food and drink marketing". Unhealthy marketing should not be in
 Government policies and contracts.
- Ensure public spaces and events are free from all unhealthy marketing.
- ACT to utilise the gold standard <u>18 point United States Department of Agriculture Household Food</u>
 Security Survey Module.
- ACT Government to consider implementing school lunches to ensure all children are receiving the nutrition required for learning.

Reducing risky behaviours

Objective: "Fewer people drinking at risky levels"

Action: "Investigate options to address impacts of online alcohol orders and home delivery on health and wellbeing of Canberrans"

Action: "Support community and sports organisations to deliver health promotion programs and initiatives that prevent and reduce harms from alcohol"

Alcohol is responsible for a substantial burden of death, disease and injury in Australia, affecting not only the drinkers themselves, but also children, families and the broader community.²³ The risk of harm to health from alcohol increases the more a person drinks.²⁴

With the advent of online sale and delivery of alcohol, the ability to gain unfettered access to alcohol is greater than ever. A recent survey demonstrated that if rapid delivery of alcohol had not been available, respondents admit they would not have had any further alcoholic beverages.²⁵ Regulations must be in place to decrease the risk of alcohol exposure to children and the risk of "people drinking at risky levels".

PHAA recommends the following actions:

Introduce a specific licence category for online sales and delivery.

PHAA submission on ACT Draft Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025

- Online alcohol purchases to require age verification at point of sale, i.e., AusPost Keypass ID check.
- Mandatory rotating health warning statements required for all websites selling alcohol products.
- Ban exploitative alcohol marketing and payment methods, including incentivising bulk purchasing alcohol, buy-now-pay-later schemes, push notifications, direct prompts, or 'buy-now' buttons.
- No alcohol delivery should be left unattended, and all deliveries should require age verification, as
 well as intoxication assessment at time of delivery. Non-deliveries should be reported with details.
- Delivery staff need appropriate RSA training and additional support to safely comply with the law.
- No delivery between 10pm and 10am any day, regardless of when the order was placed.
- Introduce a delay of two hours between purchase and delivery of alcohol.
- Prescribe test purchasing for unlawful delivery and provision of alcohol and establish offences.
- ACT Government should consider creating community-based alcohol harm reduction programs with the community and local sports organisations in a co-design format.

Objective: "Minimise e-cigarette use in non-smokers, particularly adolescents and young adults"

Action: "Advocate for stronger national regulation of e-cigarette products and review ACT legislation to ensure current arrangements are contributing to minimising the harm caused by e-cigarettes"

It is the right thing to do to ensure that people in the ACT, particularly children and people who are non-smokers, are protected from nicotine addiction and other harms associated with vaping and tobacco products. Action on vaping is supported by community, with 87% of Australians wanting to see young generations protected from nicotine addiction. Vapes are getting Australian youths hooked on nicotine through targeted social media advertisements and enticing flavours like "candy floss". Vape use has doubled among 14 to 17-year-olds and quadrupled among 25 to 29-year-olds between 2016 and 2019.

PHAA recommends the following actions:

- Introduce amended state legislation to explicitly prohibit the sale and supply of non-prescription ecigarettes, components, and liquids irrespective of whether they contain nicotine.
- Prohibit advertising, promotion and sponsorship in relation to e-cigarettes, components and liquids.
- Increase resourcing for compliance and enforcement measures to deter non-pharmacy retailers that unlawfully sell e-cigarettes.
- Timely speed of implementation to drive down recreational vaping and avoid retailer stockpiling.
- Working with other jurisdictions to put in place strong regulations covering designated outdoor smoking/vaping areas, eliminate vending machines on licenced premises and prevent the emergence of a domestic manufacturing capability.
- Ongoing comprehensive monitoring and reporting to understand the impact of policy changes on smoking and vaping behaviours.

Promoting healthy ageing

Objective: "To support positive ageing, more adults engaging in healthy and protective lifestyle behaviours related to their physical and mental health"

Action: "Engage and support quality research to build the evidence base for healthy ageing initiatives, with a focus on the secondary prevention of chronic disease"

PHAA fully supports researching, promoting and providing better access to secondary prevention strategies like screening. However, it would be a missed opportunity to focus on secondary prevention solely.

Secondary prevention is key to identifying issues that may be of concern to health and ensuring early intervention.²⁸ Primary prevention is the use of interventions to avoid health issues in the first place.²⁸ For example, smoking cessation, improving eating habits, vaccinations and regular exercise.²⁸ Primary prevention is often underfunded, under-researched and over-looked, despite its economic benefits.²⁹

PHAA recommends the following actions:

- Support national implementation of the National Preventative Health Strategy and additionally, draw from the Strategy's actions for the ACT Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025.
- By 2030 at least 5% of total ACT health spending will be dedicated to investments in preventive health.
- ACT Government to broaden scope and invest in both primary and secondary prevention research.

Conclusion

PHAA supports the broad directions of the ACT Draft Preventive Health Action Plan 2023-2025. However, we are keen to ensure actions in line with this submission. We are particularly keen that the following points are highlighted:

- A commitment to at least 5% of the health budget be assigned to preventive health.
- Create measurable indicators and short-, medium- and long-term goals.
- Approach the early years with a holistic framework to give children the best start to life.
- Enable people to be physically active by ensuring safe, quality and pleasant environments.
- Utilise multiple different levers to increase healthy food availability and choices.
- Act now to regulate/eliminate the growing health threats of online alcohol delivery and vaping.
- Expand research investment to include both primary and secondary interventions.
- Support National level policy, like the implementation of the National Preventive Health Strategy.

The PHAA appreciates the opportunity to make this submission and the opportunity to ensure that more people in the ACT have the ability to live healthy and secure lives. Please do not hesitate to contact me should you require additional information or have any queries in relation to this submission.

Terry Slevin

Chief Executive Officer
Public Health Association of Australia
26/07/2023

References

- 1. Development CfHS. Childhood injury prevention: Strategic directions for coordination in New South Wales. University of Wollongong; 2017.
- Masters R, Anwar E, Collins B, Cookson R, Capewell S. Return on investment of public health interventions: a systematic review. J Epidemiol Community Health. 2017;71:827. 10.1136/jech2016-208141
- 3. McDaid D. Using economic evidence to help make the case for investing in health promotion and illness prevention. WHO Policy Brief. WHO, Copenhagen, 2018.
- 4. Patrick R, Armstrong F, Hancock T, Capon A, Smith J. Climate change and health promotion in Australia: Navigating political, policy, advocacy and research challenges. Health Promotion Journal of Australia, Volume 30, Issue 3, p295-298 2019
- 5. Commission for Social Determinants of Health. Closing the gap in a generation: health equity through action on the social determinants of health. Final Report of the Commission on Social Determinants of Health. Geneva: World Health Organization; 2008.
- OECD. Measuring What Matters for Child Well-being and Policies. Paris: OECD Publishing; 2021; [accessed 2022 Apr 11]. Available from: https://doi.org/10.1787/e82fded1-en. 7. Foodbank. Foodbank hunger report 2022 [Internet]. 2023; [accessed 2022 Apr 11]. Available from: https://reports.foodbank.org.au/foodbank-hunger-report-2022/
- 7. Oral Health: Policy Position Statement. Canberra: Public Health Association of Australia; 2020. Available from: https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/4565
- 8. Cancer Council Australia. Sun protection for babies and children. [Internet]. Cancer Council Australia; [accessed 2022 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www.cancercouncil.com.au/cancer-prevention/sun-protection/preventingskin-cancer/sun-protection-for-babies-andchildren/#:~:text=Cancer%20Council%20recommends%20protecting%20babies,wraps%2C%20c lothing%20and% 20a%20hat.
- 9. Children and Young People's Health and Rights: Policy Position Statement. Canberra: Public Health Association of Australia; 2022. Available from: https://www.phaa.net.au/documents/item/5623
- NSW Ministry of Health. The first 2000 days: Conception to age 5: Framework. [Internet]. North Sydney: NSW Government; 2019; [accessed 2022 Apr 11]. Available from: https://www1.health.nsw.gov.au/pds/ActivePDSDocuments/PD2019_008.pdf
- Statista. Swimming pool ownership in selected cities in Australia as of September 2018 [Internet].
 2018 [accessed 2023 Jul 26]. Available from:
 https://www.statista.com/statistics/944973/swimming-pool-ownership-selected-cities-australia/
- 12. Thomaidou, Z. Raising your kids in Australia? Here's why teaching them how to swim is vital [Internet]. Special Broadcasting Service (SBS). 2023 Feb 15 [accessed 2023 Jul 26]. Available From: https://www.sbs.com.au/language/english/en/podcast-episode/raising-your-kids-in-australia-heres-why-teaching-them-to-swim-is-vital/qjk4vaqmc
- 13. Katzmarzyk PT, Friedenreich C, Shiroma EJ, Lee IM. Physical inactivity and non-communicable disease burden in low-income, middle-income and high-income countries. British journal of sports medicine. 2021:bjsports-2020-103640.
- 14. Division DoHaSCaAS. UK Chief Medical Officers Physical Activity Guidelines. 2019.
- 15. Warburton DER, Bredin SSD. Health benefits of physical activity: a systematic review of current systematic reviews. Current opinion in cardiology. 2017;32(5):541-56.

- 16. Health AGDo. Physical activity and exercise guidelines for all Australians 2021 [Available from: https://www.health.gov.au/health-topics/physical-activity-and-exercise/physical-activity-and-exercise/physical-activity-and-exerciseguidelines-for-all-australians.
- 17. Baker PRA, Francis DP, Soares J, Weightman AL, Foster C. Community wide interventions for increasing physical activity. Cochrane Database of Systematic Reviews. 2015(1).
- 18. Bekemeier B, Pui-Yan Yip M, Flaxman AD, Barrington W. Five Community-wide Approaches to Physical Activity Promotion: A Cluster Analysis of These Activities in Local Health Jurisdictions in 6 States. Journal of public health management and practice: JPHMP. 2018;24(2):112-20.
- 19. Howlett N, Trivedi D, Troop NA, Chater AM. Are physical activity interventions for healthy inactive adults effective in promoting behavior change and maintenance, and which behavior change techniques are effective? A systematic review and meta-analysis. Translational Behavioral Medicine. 2018;9(1):147-57.
- 20. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. A picture of overweight and obesity in Australia 2017. Cat. no. PHE 216. Canberra: AIHW; 2017.
- 21. Australian Bureau of Statistics. National Health Survey: First Results, Australia 2017-18. ABS Catalogue no. 4364.0.55.001. http://www.abs.gov.au/AUSSTATS/abs@.nsf/DetailsPage/4364.0.55.0012017-18?OpenDocument: ABS; 2018.
- 22. Australian Institute of Health and Welfare. Australia's children. Cat. no. CWS 69. Canberra: AIHW; 2020. p. 1-389.
- 23. Whetton, S., Tait, R.J., Gilmore, W., Dey, T., Agramunt, S., Abdul Halim, S., McEntee, A., Mukhtar, A., Roche, A., Allsop, S. & Chikritzhs, T. (2021) Examining the Social and Economic Costs of Alcohol Use in Australia: 2017/18, Perth, WA, National Drug Research Institute, Curtin University
- 24. National Health and Medical Research Council. (2020). Australian Guidelines to Reduce Health Risks from Drinking Alcohol. National Health and Medical Research Council, Australian Research Council and Universities Australia. Commonwealth of Australia, Canberra
- 25. VicHealth (2020) On-demand alcohol delivery services and risky drinking.

 https://www.vichealth.vic.gov.au/media-and-resources/publications/alcohol-delivery-risky-drinking
- 26. Cancer Council Victoria. New data reveals nine in ten Australians want government action to stop Australia's escalating e-cigarette crisis [Internet]. 2023 Feb 23 [accessed 2023 Jun 10]. Available from: https://www.cancervic.org.au/get-support/stories/e-cigarette-crisis.html
- 27. Chrysanthos, N & Bagshaw, E. From bootcamps in China to Australian schools: How vapes hook children on nicotine [Internet]. The Sydney Morning Herald: Sydney. 2021 Sep 2 [accessed 2023 Jun 10]. Available from: https://www.smh.com.au/world/asia/from-bootcamps-in-china-to-australian-schools-how-vapes-hook-children-on-nicotine-20210830-p58n6w.html
- 28. U.S. Center for Disease Control. Picture of America [Internet]. 2017 Apr 6 [accessed 2023 Jul 19]. Available from: https://www.cdc.gov/pictureofamerica/index.html
- 29. Howse, E., Crosland, P., Rychetnik, L., & Wilson, A. (2021). *The value of prevention*. https://preventioncentre.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2021/10/The-value-of-prevention-Evidence-Review-March-2021.pdf